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Introduction

Appellants respectfully request an expedited briefing schedule for their

appeal of an order freezing their assets. The order was entered on November 3,

2014, in an ongoing SEC civil enforcement action against Samuel E. Wyly and his

late brother Charles’s probate estate (the “Wyly Brothers”). The case is pending

before the Honorable Shira A. Scheindlin in the United States District Court for the

Southern District of New York.

Appellants are fifteen innocent family members of the Wyly Brothers.

Because of the SEC’s concern that it might not be able to fully collect on its

anticipated monetary judgment against the Wyly Brothers, the agency initially

sought to freeze all of the personal assets of an unidentified and undefined group of

“family members” who were not parties to the case. Several family members

submitted letters to the district court pointing out, among other things, that it

lacked jurisdiction to freeze the assets of non-parties. At the district court’s

direction, the SEC then amended its four-year-old complaint to add appellants and

one other family member as “relief defendants.” The amended complaint does not

allege that the relief defendants violated any law; rather, it asserts that they

received ill-gotten gains from the Wyly Brothers or overseas entities the Wyly

Brothers were found to control, without identifying any specific assets or any dates

when the relief defendants allegedly received them.
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After being added as parties, the family members demonstrated that the

district court still had no legal basis to freeze their assets. Among other reasons,

the relief defendants showed that the SEC failed to establish that any assets

transferred to them legally constituted “ill-gotten gains,” and that a freeze order

would violate the automatic stay triggered by pending Chapter 11 bankruptcy

proceedings encompassing the Wyly Brothers’ assets. Judge Scheindlin dismissed

these legal impediments and entered the SEC’s requested freeze order, subject to

limited carve-outs for living expenses and other ongoing expenses. Though

labeled “temporary,” the order sets no termination date or other criteria for lifting

the freeze at any time.

In this appeal, the family members contend that the freeze of their assets

should be vacated on at least three independent grounds. First, the SEC has not

shown that any of the appellants received assets that, as a matter of law, may

legitimately be considered ill-gotten gains under the district court’s novel “tax

avoidance” disgorgement theory. Second, the freeze violates the automatic stay in

Section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code, because it is a preparatory step by the SEC to

collect on an anticipated monetary judgment against the Wyly Brothers, whose

assets are now properties of bankruptcy estates under the control of a bankruptcy

court. And third, as to seven of the family members, the freeze order is an abuse of

2
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discretion because there is no evidence in the record that they received any

contested assets from either of the Wyly Brothers or the overseas entities.

Expedited briefing and consideration of this appeal are warranted because

the order is unlawfully disrupting the lives and business affairs of fifteen innocent

people and the children, grandchildren, great-grandchildren, and other people they

support. Because the freeze order exempts certain living expenses, appellants do

not claim irreparable harm and have not requested a stay pending appeal.

Nonetheless, without a proper legal and evidentiary showing, innocent family

members should not be subjected to the fear that they could unwittingly violate the

order or to prolonged restrictions on the use of their own assets. Moreover,

because the freeze order does not identify any specific asset, it has required the

family members to expend substantial time and legal fees to determine which of

their assets are covered by the freeze and carve-outs. Expedited briefing would not

unfairly prejudice the SEC, because the issues on appeal have been briefed in the

district court and do not require review of a voluminous record.

Proceedings Below

A. The SEC’s Action Against Samuel and Charles Wyly

The SEC filed its Complaint against the Wyly Brothers and two other

defendants on July 29, 2010. (Ex. A.) The Complaint alleged that the Wyly

3
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Brothers engaged in a fraudulent scheme to hold and trade securities of four public

companies of which they were directors without accurately disclosing their

ownership or trading of the securities in required SEC filings. (Id. ¶ 1.) The SEC

alleged that the Wyly Brothers vested ownership of the securities in trusts and

subsidiary companies in the Isle of Man and Cayman Islands, but retained control

over and directed their trading. (See id. ¶ 3.) The SEC claimed that the Wyly

Brothers failed to disclose, and caused the four public companies to fail to disclose,

the Wyly Brothers’ beneficial ownership of the securities; caused the companies to

file false or misleading registration statements; illegally sold unregistered

securities; and engaged in insider trading. (See id. ¶J 47-100.) The SEC asserted

ten claims against the Wyly Brothers based on alleged violations of various

provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

related SEC rules. (See id. ¶J 120-167.)’

After a nine-week jury trial ending on May 7, 2014, ajury found the Wyly

Brothers liable for nine of the SEC’s claims. (See Op. & Order, July 10, 2014, at

1-2, Ex. C.) Based on a separate bench trial, the district court dismissed the SEC’s

insider trading claim on July 10, 2014. (See id. at 1-2, 17-27.)

‘Following Charles Wyly’s death on August 7, 2011, the executor of his estate was substituted
as a defendant. (See Order, Jan. 27, 2012, Ex. B.)

4
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B. The Disgorgement Proceedings

Following the liability determinations, the district court has conducted

protracted proceedings in the remedies phase of the case, primarily to determine

whether the Wyly Brothers should be required to pay disgorgement. The SEC has

struggled to fashion a coherent disgorgement theory, proposing a total of at least

seven different theories: (1) total trading profits; (2) taxes avoided; (3) tainted

options; (4) concealment to avoid depressing stock prices; (5) profits in excess of

traditional “buy and hold” investors; (6) variation of(5), assuming the Wyly

Brothers had exercised their options before transferring securities to the trusts; and

(7) proceeds of unregistered sales of Michael’s Stores stock. (See Op. & Order,

Jul. 29, 2014, at 2-3, Ex. D; Op. & Order, Jun. 13, 2013, at 1-2, Ex. E; Corrected

Op. & Order Sept. 24, 2014, at 73-74, Ex. F; SEC Request, Aug. 29, 2014, at 2,

Ex. G.)

Judge Scheindlin rejected the SEC’s “total profits” theory, under which it

sought disgorgement of all profits that the Wyly Brothers earned from the

securities transactions in the overseas entities they were found to control. (See Op.

& Order, July 29, 2014, at 2-3, Ex. D.) She held, “As a matter of law, the SEC

cannot show that all of the profits on all of the sales by the [Isle of Man] trusts

throughout this extensive time period are reasonably connected to the [Wyly

Brothers’] continuous failure to disclose beneficial ownership.” (Id. at 20.)

5
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To date, the only SEC theory that the district court has approved is (2),

based on the approximate federal income taxes the Wyly Brothers would have paid

had they reported their trading profits on their tax returns. (See Corrected Op. &

Order, Sept. 24, 2014, at 2-3, 56-57, 80-82, Ex. F.) Judge Scheindlin issued an 82-

page decision on this theory, and ordered Sam Wyly to disgorge approximately

$124 million, and Charles Wyly’s estate to disgorge approximately $64 million,

plus prejudgment interest. (See Id. at 56-6 1, 80.)

SEC disgorgement theories (3), (4), (6), and (7) have fallen by the

wayside. The SEC voluntarily withdrew theory (3), and the district court rejected

theory (4) as “untimely,” theory (6) as “counterfactual,” and theory (7) as

“inequitable.” (See SEC Reply in Further Supp. of Request to Hold Record Open

for Additional Expert Reports, Sept. 12, 2014, at 1-2, Ex. H; Corrected Op. &

Order, Sept. 24, 2014, at 74, Ex. F.)

The district court is currently holding hearings on SEC theory (5), which

seeks disgorgement based on the difference between the trading profits earned in

the overseas entities and the profits that would have been earned by a hypothetical

“buy and hold” investor during the same time period. (See Corrected Op. & Order,

Sept. 24, 2014, at 8 1-82, Ex. F.) Judge Scheindlin has not ruled on that theory yet,

and has not entered a final judgment against the Wyly Brothers.

6
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C. The SEC’s Application to Freeze
the Assets of the Extended Wyly Family

On October 8, 2014, the SEC sent Judge Scheindlin a letter requesting a pre

motion conference to address its intent to file a motion for an asset freeze,

expedited discovery, and an accounting of the Wyly Brothers’ assets, “to preserve

the SEC’s ability to enforce a final judgment” against them. (Ltr. from SEC to

Distr. Ct., Oct. 8, 2014, at 1, Ex. I.) In its letter, the SEC stated that it was

concerned about the potential dissipation of assets, and cited prior testimony

concerning multi-million dollar distributions from overseas trusts to Charles

Wyly’s three daughters. (Id. at 2.) The SEC also submitted a proposed order that

would have frozen not only the Wyly Brothers’ assets, but all of the assets of an

unidentified and undefined group of “family members.” (See (Proposed) Order

Freezing Assets and Granting Other Relief Oct. 8, 2014, at 1-2, Ex. J.) The SEC

submitted no affidavits or documentary evidence in support of its requested asset

freeze.

Several family members, as well as the Wyly Brothers, opposed the SEC’s

proposed freeze order. Among other objections, the family members showed that

the district court lacked jurisdiction to freeze the assets of non-parties, and pointed

out that, under the district court’s tax-avoidance disgorgement theory, the family

members could not have received any “ill-gotten gains” from the Wyly Brothers,

because any tax savings were personal to them and could not have been transferred

7
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to anyone else. (See, e.g., Ltrs. from certain Relief Defendants to Distr. Ct., Oct.

14, 17, and 20, 2014, Exs. K, L, & M, respectively.)

In addition, the family members and Sam Wyly’s bankruptcy counsel argued

that the asset freeze would violate the automatic stay imposed under Section 362 of

the Bankruptcy Code. (See Ltr. from Defendants to Distr. Ct., Oct. 21, 2014, Ex.

N; Ltr. from certain Relief Defendants to Distr. Ct., Oct. 27, 2014, Ex. 0.) The

stay was triggered by the Chapter 11 proceedings commenced in October 2014 by

Sam Wyly and Caroline D. Wyly (Charles Wyly’s widow and the primary

beneficiary of his probate estate) in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Northern

District of Texas. (In re Samuel E. Wyly, Debtor, Case No. 14-3 5043 (Ch. 11); In

re Caroline D. Wyly, Debtor, Case No. 14-35074 (Ch. 11))

During oral argument, Judge Scheindlin suggested that the SEC needed to

identify the specific assets they sought to freeze and, to avoid the jurisdictional

issue raised by the family members, name specific family members as relief

defendants. (See Tr. Oct. 23, 2014, at 14:20-15:14, 24:18-25:2, 26:6-27:20, 46:7-

9, Ex. P.) On October 28, 2014, the SEC filed an amended complaint, which

added sixteen Wyly family members as relief defendants, but did not identify any

specific asset that any family member allegedly received from the Wyly Brothers

or the overseas trusts. (See Am. Compl., Oct. 30, 2014, Ex. Q.)

8
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Despite this lack of specificity, as well as the complete absence of any

aflegation or evidence that seven of the relief defendants received any contested

assets at all, Judge Scheindlin entered the SEC’s fourth version of its requested

freeze order on November 3, 2014. (Asset Freeze Order, Nov. 3, 2014, Ex. R.)

Regarding the relief defendants, the order froze all assets they received at any time

from the overseas entities as well as any asset they received from the Wyly

Brothers after January 1, 2005. (See Id. at 2-5.) The order includes a number of

exemptions from the freeze, including living expenses of $15,000 per month for

each relief defendant (other than Caroline Wyly), all medical expenses, reasonable

legal fees, all taxes, and education-related expenses. (See id. at 4-5.) The district

court also issued an opinion concluding that the freeze did not violate the

automatic stay and finding that “the Family Members are likely in possession of

ill-gotten gains.” (Op. & Order, Nov. 3, 2014, Ex. S.) Notwithstanding this

finding, the opinion does not cite any allegation or evidence of any specific asset

transfer to thirteen of the sixteen relief defendants. (See id. at 12.)

Appellate Jurisdiction

On November 11, 2014, fifteen of the family member-relief defendants filed

a notice of appeal from the district court’s asset-freeze order and opinion. (One

relief defendant, Caroline Wyly, who has filed for bankruptcy, has not joined in the

appeal.) This Court has jurisdiction to review an interlocutory injunction freezing

9
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assets. See 28 U.S.C. § 1292(a)(1); SECv. Cavanagh, 155 F.3d 129 (1998); SEC

v. Un(fundSAL,910F.2d 1028, 1029(1990).

Argument

1.

APPELLANTS HAVE SUBSTANTIAL GROUNDS
FOR REVERSAL OF THE FREEZE ORDER

A. Appellants Received No Ill-Gotten Gains As a Matter of Law

To obtain disgorgement from a relief defendant, the SEC must prove that the

relief defendant (1) received ill-gotten gains and (2) has no legitimate claim to the

assets. See, e.g., SEC v. Cavanagh, 155 F.3d 129, 136 (2d Cir. 1998); SEC v.

Cherif 933 F.2d 403, 413-16 & n. 11(7th Cir. 1991). The SEC may also seek an

asset freeze against a relief defendant, but only if it can prove that it is likely to

succeed on the merits of its disgorgement claim. See Cavanagh, 155 F.3d at 132.

In this case, the SEC cannot meet the first element of its disgorgement

claims against the relief defendants as a matter of law. In light of the jury’s

findings and Judge Scheindlin’s rulings on the SEC’s disgorgement theories

against the Wyly Brothers, there are no ill-gotten gains in overseas entities at all.

Under the tax-avoidance theory accepted by Judge Scheindlin, the Wyly Brothers’

unlawful benefit is measured by the taxes the Wyly Brothers avoided by failing to

declare the trusts’ trading profits on their personal income tax returns. Those tax

10
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savings, however, are personal to the Wyly Brothers, who could not have

transferred them to their family members or anyone else. The tax savings,

moreover, do not reside in the overseas entities or taint the assets in those entities.

Thus, there can be nothing tainted, or “ill gotten,” about trust assets distributed to

family members.

This conclusion is further bolstered by the district court’s rejection of the

SEC’s “total profits” disgorgement theory, based on its finding that the SEC could

not show that the profits in the trusts are reasonably connected to the Wyly

Brothers’ failure to disclose beneficial ownership. (See Op. & Order, July 29,

2014, at 20, Ex. D.) There was nothing illegal about the trusts’ sales of securities

or the proceeds of those sales. The Wyly Brothers’ failure to pay taxes on the

profits did not transform those profits into ill-gotten gains.

In the opinion on the asset freeze, Judge Scheindlin gave short shrift to this

issue. Her analysis of the issue, in its entirety, was:

With regard to the first Cavanagh factor, the SEC is likely to succeed
in showing that the Family Members are in possession of ill-gotten funds.
The jury found the [Wyly Brothers] liable on nine violations of the securities
laws. The TOM trusts were funded entirely by the various options
transferred and exercised by the [Wyly Brothers]. These trusts have made
distributions to the Family Members. Thus, the Family Members are likely
in possession of ill-gotten funds.

(Op. & Order, Nov. 3, 2014, at 12, Ex. S.)

11
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The opinion does not explain how the Wyly Brothers’ failure to report their

beneficial ownership of the options could have tainted the options transferred to

and exercised in the trusts. In fact, there is no taint. The jury did not find that

there was anything wrong with transferring options to the trust, exercising them, or

profiting from them. The violations flowed from the Wyly Brothers’ failure to

disclose their beneficial ownership of the trusts, not from the trading activity in the

trusts. That is why Judge Scheindlin refused to order the Wyly Brothers to

disgorge all of the trading profits in the trusts. Judge Scheindlin’s opinion does not

include any finding or explanation as to how the Wyly Brothers could have

transferred “ill-gotten gains” in the form of their own unpaid taxes to family

members.

The district court also noted that it was freezing assets commingled with ill-

gotten gains. (id. at 13.) But since there were no ill-gotten gains in the trust as a

matter of law, the relief defendants could not have received ill-gotten gains and

commingled them with other assets.

B. The Freeze Order Also Violates the Automatic Stay

The asset freeze is an avowed effort by the SEC to preserve its ability to

collect an expected judgment against the Wyly Brothers. Claims based on

distributions of a debtor’s assets, like the SEC’s claims against the relief

12
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defendants, constitute property of the debtor’s bankruptcy estate, which is under

the exclusive jurisdiction and control of the bankruptcy court. 28 U.s.c.

§ 1334(e).

Efforts by the SEC to take control of the property of a bankruptcy estate are

barred by the automatic stay in Section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code, as interpreted

by this Court in SEC v. Brennan, 230 F.3d 65, 70 (2d Cir. 2000). In that case, this

Court joined four other Circuits in holding that “anything beyond the mere entry of

a moneyjudgment against a debtor is prohibited by the automatic stay.” Id. at 71

(emphasis in original). This Court quoted, with approval, the standard set forth in

a leading bankruptcy law treatise: “Steps preparatory to money collection.. .have

been properly barred as not within the exception [to the stay for regulatory

actions].” Id. at 72 (quoting 2 Cowans Bankruptcy Law and Practice § 11.5, at

5 17 (1994) (emphasis in original)).

In Brennan, as in this case, the SEC “assert[ed] that it is not seeking to

collect the. . .Judgment, but only to prevent [the defendant] from concealing or

dissipating [overseas] assets.” Id. at 73. Nonetheless, this Court held that a

repatriation order went beyond the mere entry of a money judgment in a regulatory

enforcement action and therefore violated the automatic stay. See id.

Brennan shows that a freeze of the Wyly Brothers’ assets, whether in their

own possession or allegedly in the possession of others, violates the automatic

13
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stay. Like a repatriation order, an asset freeze does not require the asset holder to

relinquish possession of the asset to a creditor (the SEC), but would subject the

asset to the creditor’s control and would constitute a step “preparatory to money

collection.” Id. at 72.

The district court, while noting that “the question is close,” erroneously

concluded that the automatic stay does not apply. (Op. & Order, Nov. 3, 2014, at

6, Ex. S.) Judge Scheindlin acknowledged that there are “many similarities

between this case and Brennan,” but attempted to distinguish it on two grounds.

(Id.) First, the district court noted that, unlike Brennan, no final money judgment

had been entered. (See Id. at 6-8.) This distinction is immaterial. The SEC has

stated openly that it seeks an asset freeze “to preserve the SEC’s ability to enforce

a final judgment in this case..
. [,]“ and the district court has ordered that the Wyly

Brothers disgorge over $188 million, plus interest. (Ltr. from SEC to Distr. Ct.,

Oct. 8, 2014, at 1, Ex. J; Corrected Op. & Order, Sept. 24, 2014, at 80, Ex. F.)

Moreover, a final judgment is expected to be entered within weeks, following the

completion of the ongoing final disgorgement hearings on November 17 and 25.

Second, Judge Scheindlin opined that Brennan is distinguishable because

here, “the SEC is not seeking control over any asset,” whereas the repatriation

order in Brennan involved the return of assets so as to preserve them for the benefit

of all potential claimants. (Op. & Order, Nov. 3, 2014, at 7, Ex. S.) But a freeze

14
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order, no less than a repatriation order, unquestionably “controls” assets, since it

dictates the location of the frozen assets and prohibits the relief defendants from

“any disposition, transfer, pledge, encumbrance, assignment, dissipation,

concealment, or other disposal [of the frozen assets] whatsoever....” (Asset Freeze

Order, Nov. 3, 2014, at 3, Ex. R.)

C. There Is No Evidence in the Record of
Any Asset Transfers to Seven of the Appellants

Independent of the two grounds for reversal set forth above, the asset freeze

order should be vacated as to relief defendants Andrew Wyly, Christiana Wyly,

Charles J. Wyly, Jr. III, John Graham, David Matthews, Donnie Miller, and Evan

Wyly. Although we did not participate in the trial or remedies hearings involving

the Wyly Brothers, we have searched the transcripts of those proceedings and

found no evidence in the record that any of these seven family members received

anything at all from the Wyly Brothers or the offshore trusts. No such evidence

was provided or referred to by the SEC in support of its request for the asset freeze,

and none was cited by the district court in its decision.

As noted above, to obtain an asset freeze against a relief defendant, the

district court must find it likely that the SEC will be able to prove at trial that the

relief defendant received ill-gotten gains to which the relief defendant has no

legitimate claim. See Cavanagh, 155 F.3d at 132, 136. Under this standard, it was

15
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an abuse of discretion to freeze the assets of these family members without any

evidence that they received any assets at all, much less “ill-gotten gains.”

II.

EXPEDITED APPELLATE REVIEW IS WARRANTED

Absent prompt review by this Court, appellants will be subjected to an

unlawful asset freeze of indefinite duration. It has already disrupted their lives and

business affairs, and those of the numerous other people of all ages they support.

Because of the complexity of the order, they live in peril that they might

inadvertently be found in contempt. And they have had to analyze personal

financial records going back decades, and obtain legal counsel, to determine if

particular assets are frozen, and to seek appropriate modifications of the order from

the SEC and the district court. The SEC, on the other hand, would not be unfairly

prejudiced by expedited briefing, because the issues on appeal are primarily legal

and have already been extensively briefed in the district court.

Accordingly, pursuant to Rule 2 of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure

and Local Rule 31.2, we request that the Court set the following briefing schedule:

• Appellants’ opening brief to be filed on or before November 21, 2014.

• Appellee’s brief to be filed on or before December 5, 2014

• Apellants’ reply brief to be filed on or before December 15, 2014.

16
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We also request that the Court schedule argument and issue a decision on an
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